



ScienceDirect



Journal of Otology 11 (2016) 73-77

www.journals.elsevier.com/journal-of-otology/

Review

Otolithic organ function in patients with profound sensorineural hearing loss

Yujuan Zhou a,b,c,1, Yongzhen Wu a,b,c,1, Jing Wang a,b,c,*

^a Department of Otology and Skull Base Surgery, Eye Ear Nose & Throat Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai 200031, China
^b Shanghai Auditory Medical Center, Shanghai, China
^c Key Laboratory of Hearing Science, Ministry of Health, Shanghai, China

Received 30 March 2016; revised 17 May 2016; accepted 17 May 2016

Abstract

Profound sensorineural hearing loss (PSHL) is not uncommonly encountered in otology. In clinics, there is a high incidence of otolithic damage in patients with PSHL, but relevant reports are few. Sharing a continuous membranous structure and similar receptor cell ultrastructures, the cochlea and vestibule may be susceptible to the same harmful factors. Disorders of the inner ear may result in a variety of manifestations, including vertigo, spatial disorientation, blurred vision, impaired articulation, and hearing impairment. Considering the diversity of clinical symptoms associated with PSHL with otolithic dysfunction, it may be frequently misdiagnosed, and objective means of testing the function of otolithic organs should be recommended for hearing-impaired patients. Vestibular-evoked myogenic potentials (VEMPs) via air-conducted sound are of great importance for the diagnosis of otolithic function. Hearing devices such as cochlear implants are commonly accepted treatments for PSHL, and early identification and treatment of vestibular disorders may increase the success rate of cochlear implantation. Therefore, it is necessary to increase awareness of otolithic functional states in patients with PSHL.

Copyright © 2016, PLA General Hospital Department of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery. Production and hosting by Elsevier (Singapore) Pte Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Keywords: Profound sensorineural hearing loss; PSHL; Otolithic organs; Vestibular-evoked myogenic potential; VEMP

Contents

	Introduction	
2.	Etiology and clinical manifestations in patients with PSHL	74
	2.1. Etiology	74
	2.2. Clinical manifestations	74
3.	Function of otolithic organs in patients with PSHL	
	3.1. Anatomy	
	3.2. Otolithic organ tests	75
	3.3. Dysfunction of otolithic organs in patients with PSHL	75
	Treatment	
5.	Prognosis	76
6.	Conclusion	
	References	76

 $\hbox{\it E-mail address:} jingwang 615@126.com~(J.~Wang).$

Peer review under responsibility of PLA General Hospital Department of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery.

^{*} Corresponding author. Department of Otology and Skull Base Surgery, Eye Ear Nose & Throat Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai 200031, China. Tel.: +86 18917786267.

¹ These authors make the same contribution to this article.

1. Introduction

Profound sensorineural hearing loss (PSHL) is a specific form of sensorineural hearing loss (SNHL) caused by congenital or acquired lesions of the cochlea, auditory nerve and auditory center. The average air conduction audibility frequencies are 500, 1000, 2000and 4000 Hz, in which 0-25 dB represents normal hearing, 26-40 dB mild damage, 41-60 dB moderate loss; 61-80 dB severe damage, and more than 80 dB indicates profound hearing loss (Syka, 2002). PSHL is not uncommonly encountered in otology (Xu et al., 2016). The main features of PSHL are that it is most often associated with congenital hearing loss and infectious diseases. Congenital hearing loss is often bilateral and articulation is commonly impaired, as hearing loss often develops rapidly (Ozel et al., 2012). In addition to hearing loss, symptoms associated with the vestibular system may appear occasionally, such as nausea and vertigo. In children with PSHL, the incidence of otolithic damage is very high (Xu et al., 2015). It has been reported that the maximum possibility of discovering vestibular malfunction in children with hearing impairment is approximately 70% (Angeli, 2003), but this issue has not received sufficient attention from physicians. On account of the close physical connection between the cochlear and vestibular systems - for example, the cochlea and the saccule share the same membranous labyrinth (Sazgar et al., 2006) - they are frequently affected by the same factors. That said, the pathophysiology and causes of many conditions of the cochlear and vestibular systems remain to be fully determined.

Routine vestibular function tests such as Romberg's test, rotatory test and positional nystagmus test do not evaluate the function of otolithic organs. For this reason, it remains impossible to evaluate the degree of damage to the vestibular system definitively via these routine vestibular tests. In some situations, PSHL may potentially be accompanied by dysfunction of otolithic organs, which can be detected via vestibular-evoked myogenic potential (VEMP) responses (Xu et al., 2016). VEMP test, an electrophysiological examination, therefore deserves more attention. The main VEMP indexes include amplitude, latency and threshold. It can detect disorders of otolithic organs and the integrity of their pathways accurately, and is an easy and simple test of vestibular functions in clinical practice (Patko et al., 2003; Murofushi, 2016; Kim et al., 2015). PSHL with vestibular problems may affect individuals throughout their whole life, and may occur in infants as well as elderly individuals. Physicians should ensure that they are sufficiently knowledgeable in this area, in order that they may provide optimal treatment to this group of patients. Currently available hearing devices such as cochlear implants and hearing aids have facilitated great progress in hearing restoration. When physicians encounter PSHL, attention should be paid to otolithic functions during both diagnosis and treatment. VEMPs as a well-established test are particularly suited to the detection of latent otolithic dysfunction in patients.

2. Etiology and clinical manifestations in patients with PSHL

2.1. Etiology

Various causes of PSHL are encountered in otology clinics. The major risk factors for congenital PSHL include consanguinity, maternal rubella, and exposure to intrauterine infections, of which cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection is a significant cause of bilateral PSHL in children (Toumpas et al., 2014). Lack of an adequate vitamin A supply during pregnancy may result in the baby suffering developmental retardation in hearing (Emmett and West, 2014). Compared to congenital risks, the etiological factors of acquired PSHL are many and varied. Of them, bacterial meningitis is common among children (Karanja et al., 2013). A previously reported analysis of 310 adult cases included meningitis (24.4%), mumps (11.0%), unknown inflammatory diseases (16.6%), idiopathic sudden sensorineural hearing loss (ISSNHL; 19.4%), chronic suppurative otitis media (CSOM; 6.0%), trauma (6.1%), ototoxic medications (0.4%), and "no known cause" (16.1%) as causes of acquired PSHL (Ozel et al., 2012).

In addition to the above common factors, PSHL is often accompanied by dysfunction of vestibular organs (Wang et al., 2009). In one report, vestibular and cochlear symptoms occurred simultaneously in more than half of the patients (Gao et al., 2015). Given the similar physiological structures of the cochlear and vestibular organs, it is hypothesized that PSHL may prove to be significantly associated with vestibular disorders, especially in children (Cushing et al., 2008).

2.2. Clinical manifestations

In a recent clinical report on 29 patients with PSHL, neither the medical staff nor the patients themselves were mindful of vestibular dysfunction (Xu et al., 2016). Vestibular function can be normal or low in patients with PSHL. In one study, as the extent of hearing impairment increased, the detection rate reportedly gradually increased, although notably this result was not statistically significant (Gao et al., 2015). The cochlea and vestibule are closely related with regard to both anatomy and histoembryology, and both may be prone to the same risk factors. Notably, dysfunction of otolithic organs can cause a variety of serious problems including imbalance, dizziness, spatial disorientation and blurred vision. All these manifestations can be hidden and thus easily overlooked in patients with PSHL (Zhou et al., 2009).

Some patients with PSHL do not exhibit typical features of vestibular malfunction. For example, sometimes vertigo is not apparent even if the saccule is damaged (Hong et al., 2008). The most common chief complaint in PSHL patients may be "no response to sounds" (Xu et al., 2015), while vestibular dysfunction may also have a negative impact on the physical development in children with PSHL, in the form of delayed acquisition of head control or independent walking, or

impaired gross motor function. When a symptom such as dizziness is present, it is often associated with a poor prognosis (Wang et al., 2009). Moreover, hearing-impaired patients are not capable of hearing voices perfectly, and consequently can progressively lose the ability to communicate with others, such that language function degrades slowly (Dehqan and Scherer, 2011).

3. Function of otolithic organs in patients with PSHL

3.1. Anatomy

The vestibular system has a complicated structure, formed by divisions of the lateral, anterior and posterior semicircular canals, and the otolithic organs (saccule and utricle). The semicircular canals provide sensory input pertaining to angular velocities, and the otolithic organs are sensitive to linear and gravitational acceleration (Ciaravella et al., 2007). The saccule and utricle play an important role in maintaining balance by affecting the muscular tonus and influencing positional sensation. The cochlea and vestibule are functionally and anatomically associated as they share a continuous membranous labyrinth and similar receptor cell ultrastructures, and are supplied by a common arterial vessel known as the labyrinthine artery (Xu et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2016). Therefore, it is reasonable to hypothesize that inner ear diseases may affect both the vestibular system and the cochlea, or in other words, that people with cochlear hearing damage may also have vestibular deficiency (Singh et al., 2012). Therefore, patients with PSHL should have their vestibular organ functions tested, especially those of the otolithic organs.

3.2. Otolithic organ tests

For a long time, a lack of means to test otolithic organs has meant that most clinicians are relatively unfamiliar with the development of otolithic (saccular and utricular) dysfunction in patients (Young, 2015). As a result, there have been relatively few relevant studies to date. The function of otolithic organs can be evaluated by the VEMP test, which was first reported by Colebatch et al (Colebatch and Halmagyi, 1992) in 1992, and has since been the subject of substantial research. It is now the standard test for otolithic function in people with vestibular impairment. Two types of VEMP tests are currently available: the cervical VEMP (cVEMP) test and the ocular VEMP (oVEMP) test (Curthoys et al., 2011). The cVEMP test can reportedly reflect saccular function and the functioning of the inferior vestibular nerve input pathway, which has strong projections to the sternocleidomastoid muscle but only weak projections to the oculomotor system (Walther and Blodow, 2013). The oVEMP test can reportedly reflect utricular function and the functioning of the superior vestibular nerve input pathways, which have strong projections to the oblique muscle of the lower eyelid (Niu et al., 2016). In the oVEMP test, VEMPs generated by activation of utricular afferents and mediated by a crossed otolith-ocular pathway are analyzed (Niu et al., 2016). A recent theory proposed by Govender et al (Govender et al., 2015) suggests that saccular components comprise 74% (utricular components = 26%) of air-conducted 500 Hz cVEMPs, and 61% (utricular components = 39%) of bone-conducted 500 Hzc VEMPs resulting from stimulation at the forehead (AFz). Moreover, according to the theory, utricular components comprise 68% (saccular components = 32%) of air-conducted 500 Hz oVEMPs, and 80% (saccular components = 20%) of bone-conducted 500 Hz (AFz) oVEMPs. That said, cVEMP and oVEMP tests in humans yield values that match those ascribed to saccular and utricular components by theory.

The two types of VEMPs play important roles not only in assessing common vestibular diseases such as vestibular migraine, Meniere's disease and vestibular neuritis, but also in detecting new clinical entities (Murofushi, 2016). Additionally, oVEMP and cVEMP tests are easy to perform noninvasively, and the results they yield are highly reliable. Notably, a recent study has shown that cVEMPs can be elicited in newborns at day 5, but that oVEMPs cannot be elicited in the neonatal period (Young, 2015). The cVEMP and oVEMP tests are in dispensable as clinical tools, and awareness regarding them should be increased.

3.3. Dysfunction of otolithic organs in patients with PSHL

The relationship between hearing level and vestibular dysfunction in PSHL patients remains unclear. Recently, based on evaluations of otolithic organ function via cVEMP and oVEMP tests, some researchers have proposed that otolithic organs and their input pathways may be damaged in patients with PSHL (Xu et al., 2015, 2016). The impairment or absence of VEMPs indicates dysfunction of otolithic organs. In a recent investigation, Xu et al (Xu et al., 2016) detected oVEMP responses in 38.9% of ears in patients with PSHL, while the response rate was 100% in healthy subjects. In that same study, 44.4% of ears in patients with PSHL yielded cVEMPs, while the response rate in healthy subjects was 100%. These data demonstrate that patients with PSHL have a high incidence of damage to the otolithic organs. Similarly, Xu et al (Xu et al., 2015) investigated oVEMP and cVEMP results in 43 children with PSHL and 20 healthy children, and found that oVEMPs were induced in 58.1% of ears in children with PSHL, while the response rate in the healthy children was 100%. Similarly, cVEMPs were induced in 61.9% of ears in children with PSHL, while the response rate in the healthy children was 100%. While many children with PSHL may not exhibit symptoms of otolithic organ dysfunction, it is nonetheless important to pay attention to vestibular function. A study reported by Jafari et al (Jafari and Asad, 2011) also showed that vestibular disorder may accompany hearing damage in patients with PSHL. Thus, in both children and adults with PSHL, attention should be paid to otolithic organ function, and cVEMP and oVEMP tests should be performed.

Zuniga et al (Zuniga et al., 2012) reported a strong association between hearing loss and saccular function, suggesting that PSHL patients may exhibits saccular and inferior

vestibular nerve dysfunction. Many studies have verified that patients with diagnosed sensorineural hearing loss may already have saccular disorders. There is a correlation between saccular dysfunction and the extent of hearing loss in children with PSHL, suggesting that saccular dysfunction may be a concomitant indicator of the severity of hearing disorders (Emami and Farahani, 2015). Sazgar et al. (Sazgar et al., 2006) showed that patients with SNHL were likely to have subclinical disorders of the vestibular system, particularly disorders involving the saccule. Similarly, Zhou et al (Zhou et al., 2009) detected abnormal cVEMPs in 91% of children with PSHL, and also showed that the cVEMP threshold was higher in these children. Thus, evidently, abnormality of saccular function is associated with PSHL. Another study reported that only 26.9% of patients with PSHL exhibited abnormal or absent cVEMP responses, but it also showed that the more severe the hearing loss, the more likely the saccule was to be involved (Hong et al., 2008).

4. Treatment

Cochlear implantation (CI) is one of the most widely utilized and reliable treatment options for patients with PSHL. The aims of CI are to restore hearing and improve the quality of life of patients with severe deafness. Vestibular dysfunction has a negative impact on the physical development of children with PSHL (Yawn et al., 2015). CI can augment hearing, thereby improving the understanding of speech and environmental sounds. After implantation, children with PSHL can acquire spoken language, communicate with others and attend school. However, not every patient with PSHL can undergo successful CI, which requires integrated vestibulocochlear nerves. Specifically, if the site of the patient's lesion is not outside the central auditory processing stream, CI may not work (Roche and Hansen, 2015). While cochlear implants may improve hearing in patients with PSHL, many patients still use hearing aids instead. Hearing aids are small eletroacoustic devices that can amplify and modulate sound (Ching et al., 2015). Apart from cochlear implants and hearing aids, gene therapy is a new biological treatment modality for PSHL, aimed at preventing hair cell death, and regulating hair cell differentiation (Wang et al., 2015). Many patients with PSHL have genetic mutations, and to date, in many of these cases, there are no biological treatments available (Askew et al., 2015). We believe that in the future, gene therapy will become a useful strategy for treating patients with PSHL.

These kinds of therapies, particularly CI, can improve hearing in patients with PSHL (Yu et al., 2015), but they are not effective treatments for dysfunction of otolithic organs. There are several therapies for otolithic disorders, such as vestibular rehabilitation training and a number of medications. Vestibular rehabilitation training is generally the first recommended treatment. Under the guidance of a physician, patients undergo various kinds of rehabilitation exercises in order to improve balance and maintain stable vision, as well as the interaction between the visual and somato-sensory systems

and the vestibular organs at the brainstem level (Murray et al., 2010). This physiotherapy has a profound therapeutic effect on PSHL patients with vestibular dysfunction and is suitable for the elderly. Conventional pharmacological treatments may help alleviate symptoms, but have less curative effects than vestibular rehabilitation training. Some of these drugs such as anticholinergics may have undesired side effects. In brief, dysfunction of otolithic organs should be diagnosed correctly in patients with PSHL, and it is necessary to provide appropriate treatment.

5. Prognosis

Not all cochlear implants survive for long periods, and surgical replacement is a common source of complications (Eskander et al., 2011). The effect of treatment for PSHL can be influenced by many factors, including the function of otolithic organs. A study by Wolter et al (Wolter et al., 2015) suggested that children who experienced CI failure had more balance problems than those in whom CI was successful. It also revealed that early identification and treatment of disorders of otolithic organs might increase the success rate of CI and prevent impeded language acquisition. In another study, Parietti-Winkler et al (Parietti-Winkler et al., 2015) showed that vestibular evaluations were important in the follow-up of CI, and that vestibular function should be taken into account in the decision-making process prior to CI.

On one hand, lesions of otolithic organs can increase the risk of CI failure, and on the other hand, CI can damage otolithic organs. According to the literature, impairments of the vestibule can be found in many patients after CI (Robard et al., 2015). Thus, alterations of the inner ear associated with CI can cause vestibular disorders. Reduced vestibular system function is also reported frequently after CI. Fina et al (Fina et al., 2003) reported that 39% of patients who underwent CI experienced symptoms of vertigo after the surgery. Given that an increasing number of patients with PSHL may undergo CI in the future, the function of otolithic organs should be tested not only before CI, but also after the surgery.

6. Conclusion

From the present review, it is hard to determine the causality between PSHL and vestibular dysfunction, and relevant research on the relationship between them is lacking. Clinical manifestations in patients with PSHL are variable, and impairment of vestibular function can be concealed by hearing loss and thus overlooked. Given these considerations, VEMP testing should be used as an objective procedure to evaluate potentially hidden dysfunction of the otolithic organs during diagnosis and treatment.

References

Angeli, S., 2003. Value of vestibular testing in young children with sensorineural hearing loss. Arch. Otolaryngol. Head. Neck Surg. 129 (4), 478–482.

- Askew, C., Rochat, C., Pan, B., et al., 2015. Tmc gene therapy restores auditory function in deaf mice. Sci. Transl. Med. 7 (295), 108r–295r.
- Ching, T.Y., Quar, T.K., Johnson, E.E., et al., 2015. Comparing NAL-NL1 and DSL v5 in hearing aids fit to children with severe or profound hearing loss: goodness of fit-to-targets, impacts on predicted loudness and speech intelligibility. J. Am. Acad. Audiol. 26 (3), 260–274.
- Ciaravella, G., Bennequin, D., Laschi, C., 2007. Biomechanical study on the sensorial epithelium of otolithic organs for creating a biomimetic sensor. Conf Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc. 2007, 4667–4670.
- Colebatch, J.G., Halmagyi, G.M., 1992. Vestibular evoked potentials in human neck muscles before and after unilateral vestibular deafferentation. Neurology 42 (8), 1635–1636.
- Curthoys, I.S., Iwasaki, S., Chihara, Y., et al., 2011. The ocular vestibular-evoked myogenic potential to air-conducted sound; probable superior vestibular nerve origin. Clin. Neurophysiol. 122 (3), 611–616.
- Cushing, S.L., Papsin, B.C., Rutka, J.A., et al., 2008. Evidence of vestibular and balance dysfunction in children with profound sensorineural hearing loss using cochlear implants. Laryngoscope 118 (10), 1814–1823.
- Dehqan, A., Scherer, R.C., 2011. Objective voice analysis of boys with profound hearing loss. J. Voice 25 (2), e61–e65.
- Emami, S.F., Farahani, F., 2015. Saccular dysfunction in children with sensorineural hearing loss and auditory neuropathy/auditory dys-synchrony. Acta Otolaryngol. 135 (12), 1298–1303.
- Emmett, S.D., West, K.J., 2014. Gestational vitamin A deficiency: a novel cause of sensorineural hearing loss in the developing world? Med. Hypotheses 82 (1), 6–10.
- Eskander, A., Gordon, K.A., Kadhim, L., et al., 2011. Low pediatric cochlear implant failure rate: contributing factors in large-volume practice. Arch. Otolarvngol. Head Neck Surg. 137 (12), 1190—1196.
- Fina, M., Skinner, M., Goebel, J.A., et al., 2003. Vestibular dysfunction after cochlear implantation. Otol. Neurotol. 24 (2), 234–242.
- Gao, Y., Wang, D., Su, Q., et al., 2015. Study of clinical characteristics and curative effects of sudden hearing loss patients with vertigo. ZhonghuaEr Bi Yan HouTou Jing WaiKeZaZhi 50 (7), 529-535.
- Govender, S., Dennis, D.L., Colebatch, J.G., 2015. Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials (VEMPs) evoked by air- and bone-conducted stimuli in vestibular neuritis. Clin. Neurophysiol. 126 (10), 2004–2013.
- Hong, S.M., Byun, J.Y., Park, C.H., et al., 2008. Saccular damage in patients with idiopathic sudden sensorineural hearing loss without vertigo. Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg. 139 (4), 541–545.
- Jafari, Z., Asad, M.S., 2011. The effect of saccular function on static balance ability of profound hearing-impaired children. Int. J. Pediatr. Otorhinolaryngol. 75 (7), 919-924.
- Karanja, B.W., Oburra, H.O., Masinde, P., et al., 2013. Risk factors for hearing loss in children following bacterial meningitis in a tertiary referral hospital. Int. J. Otolaryngol. 2013, 354725.
- Kim, C.H., Jang, M.U., Choi, H.C., et al., 2015. Subclinical vestibular dysfunction in migraine patients: a preliminary study of ocular and rectified cervical vestibular evoked myogenic potentials. J. Headache Pain 16, 93.
- Murofushi, T., 2016. Clinical application of vestibular evoked myogenic potential (VEMP). Auris Nasus Larynx 43 (4), 367–376.
- Murray, K.J., Hill, K., Phillips, B., et al., 2010. Does otolith organ dysfunction influence outcomes after a customized program of vestibular rehabilitation? J. Neurol. Phys. Ther. 34 (2), 70–75.
- Niu, X., Zhang, Y., Zhang, Q., et al., 2016. The relationship between hearing loss and vestibular dysfunction in patients with sudden sensorineural hearing loss. Acta Otolaryngol. 136 (3), 225–231.
- Ozel, H.E., Kahraman, E., Genc, S., et al., 2012. Profound sensorineural hearing loss: analysis of 310 adult cases. B. ENT 8 (3), 173–178.

- Parietti-Winkler, C., Lion, A., Montaut-Verient, B., et al., 2015. Effects of unilateral cochlear implantation on balance control and sensory organization in adult patients with profound hearing loss. Biomed. Res. Int. 2015, 621845
- Patko, T., Vidal, P.P., Vibert, N., et al., 2003. Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in patients suffering from an unilateral acoustic neuroma: a study of 170 patients. Clin. Neurophysiol. 114 (7), 1344—1350.
- Robard, L., Hitier, M., Lebas, C., et al., 2015. Vestibular function and cochlear implant. Eur. Arch. Otorhinolaryngol. 272 (3), 523–530.
- Roche, J.P., Hansen, M.R., 2015. On the horizon: cochlear implant technology. Otolaryngol. Clin. North Am. 48 (6), 1097—1116.
- Sazgar, A.A., Dortaj, V., Akrami, K., et al., 2006. Saccular damage in patients with high-frequency sensorineural hearing loss. Eur. Arch. Otorhinolaryngol. 263 (7), 608–613.
- Singh, S., Gupta, R.K., Kumar, P., 2012. Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials in children with sensorineural hearing loss. Int. J. Pediatr. Otorhinolaryngol. 76 (9), 1308–1311.
- Syka, J., 2002. Plastic changes in the central auditory system after hearing loss, restoration of function, and during learning. Physiol. Rev. 82 (3), 601–636.
- Toumpas, C.J., Clark, J., Harris, A., et al., 2014 Nov 20. Congenital cytomegalovirus infection is a significant cause of moderate to profound sensorineural hearing loss in Queensland children. J. Paediatr. Child. Health. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jpc.12776.
- Walther, L.E., Blodow, A., 2013. Ocular vestibular evoked myogenic potential to air conducted sound stimulation and video head impulse test in acute vestibular neuritis. Otol. Neurotol. 34 (6), 1084–1089.
- Wang, C.T., Huang, T.W., Kuo, S.W., et al., 2009. Correlation between audiovestibular function tests and hearing outcomes in severe to profound sudden sensorineural hearing loss. Ear Hear 30 (1), 110–114.
- Wang, Y., Qiao, L., Chen, Y., et al., 2015. Establishment of a model of cochlear lesions in rats to study potential gene therapy for sensorineural hearing loss. Int. J. Pediatr. Otorhinolaryngol. 79 (12), 2147–2154.
- Wang, J., Yoshioka, F., Joo, W., et al., 2016. The cochlea in skull base surgery: an anatomy study. J. Neurosurg. 1–11.
- Wolter, N.E., Gordon, K.A., Papsin, B.C., et al., 2015. Vestibular and balance impairment contributes to cochlear implant failure in children. Otol. Neurotol. 36 (6), 1029–1034.
- Xu, X.D., Zhang, Q., Hu, J., et al., 2015. The hidden loss of otolithic function in children with profound sensorineural hearing loss. Int. J. Pediatr. Otorhinolaryngol. 79 (6), 852–857.
- Xu, X.D., Ding, C.R., Yu, J., et al., 2016. The hidden dysfunction of otolithic organs in patients with profound sensorineural hearing loss. Hear Res. 331, 41–46
- Yawn, R., Hunter, J.B., Sweeney, A.D., et al., 2015. Cochlear implantation: a biomechanical prosthesis for hearing loss. F1000 Prime Rep. 7, 45.
- Young, Y.H., 2015. Assessment of functional development of the otolithic system in growing children: a review. Int. J. Pediatr. Otorhinolaryngol. 79 (4), 435–442.
- Yu, Y.Q., Yang, H.A., Xiao, M., et al., 2015. Genetic effects on sensorineural hearing loss and evidence-based treatment for sensorineural hearing loss. Chin. Med. Sci. J. 30 (3), 179–188.
- Zhou, G., Kenna, M.A., Stevens, K., et al., 2009. Assessment of saccular function in children with sensorineural hearing loss. Arch. Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg. 135 (1), 40–44.
- Zuniga, M.G., Dinkes, R.E., Davalos-Bichara, M., et al., 2012. Association between hearing loss and saccular dysfunction in older individuals. Otol. Neurotol. 33 (9), 1586–1592.